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Income and expenditure (£) 2013 2012 2011* 2010 2009
Turnover 104.8m 106.3m 76.0m 66.3m 53.8m

Turnover on general needs 
housing

40.5m   35.7m 34.0m 31.7m 30.6m

Surplus/ (deficit) before tax 15.0m   13.1m (0.7m) (0.4m) (0.4m)

Net interest payable 15.9m    13.2m 12.6m 13.7m 14.7m

Balance sheet (£) 2013 2012 2011 2010* 2009
Tangible Fixed Assets - 
Housing

623.2m 607.4m 567.0m 496.7m 451.2m

Investment in new housing 21.6m   29.6m 82.3m 39.2m 70.3m

Total expenditure on repairs 
and improvements

6.9m     6.5m 6.8m 6.7m 6.3m

Grants received 7.1m 2.0m 29.8m 54.6m 38.7m

Bank borrowing 483.8m 478.7m 442.0m 400.0m 387.6m

Accommodation (units) 2013 2012 2011 2010* 2009

Total social housing stock 
owned

9,483 9,426 8,878 8,020 7,943

Total social housing stock 
owned and managed

11,018 10,979 10,431 9,387 9,317

KPI data 2013 2012 2011 2010* 2009

Interest cover 161% 157% 149% 128% 118%

Net debt per unit (£) 48,510 52,020 53,130 43,660 42,565

General needs tenants arrears 
as % of debt

2.77% 2.99% 3.52% 4.90% 5.60%

Void turnaround (days) 14.0 15.1 16.3 18.1 20.2

% of all repairs completed on 
time

98.8% 98.9% 98.5% 99.8% 99.8%

Group Consolidated Highlights - 5-Year Summary

*Restated for component accounting. Note 2010 and 2009 figures have not been restated.
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Our mission is to create homes and communities that 
people want to live in.  We measure our success by how 
far:

• we maximise the availability of affordable 
housing in East London and Essex

• we meet our financial targets and offer Value for 
Money to our customers

• our residents judge us to be an improving 
landlord

• we build sustainable communities
• we involve our residents.  

We are working hard in each of these areas to continue 
the substantial progress forward we have made in recent 
years.  There is always scope to achieve more and I am 
confident that the plans we have in place for the future 
will further improve our performance.  

The next year will see the introduction of welfare reform 
changes which have the potential to significantly impact 
on us and our residents.  We have spent considerable 
time preparing for these changes to ensure that we 
understand the impact on our organisation, effectively 
mitigate that impact and support our residents through 
the complexities of the welfare reform proposals.  This 
will be a continuing challenge for us and our residents 
until the changes are fully implemented in 2017.

The difference that we can make to communities can 
most obviously be seen in our work in regeneration 
and developing new homes.  We completed 309 new 
homes last year to take our housing stock to 9,483 units 
and have plans in place to develop a further 888 new 
homes over the next three years.  We have just started 
on the final phase of the major regeneration schemes 
at Bow Cross in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
and are continuing with the regeneration of Beechwood 
Village in Basildon.  This year will see us starting on-
site at Blackwall Reach in the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets and on the regeneration of the Repton Court 
and Claire House estates in the London Borough of 
Redbridge.  At Forest Gate, where we manage homes 
on behalf of the London Borough of Newham under a 
20 year PFI contract, we have brought all the properties 
to Decent Homes Standard over the past three years 
and will now continue to provide maintenance and 
management of the homes for the remaining life of the 
contract.    

We have again seen a substantial return from Swan New 
Homes Limited, a private limited company established 
to undertake the development, construction and sale of 
private residential housing.  Swan New Homes sold 148 
properties and reported profits of £11.6m before gift aid 
and tax taking total profits generated from this activity 
to £31.5m.  We will develop a further 428 properties for 
sale over the next three years.  With the continuing need 

to generate further resources so we can deliver on our 
mission we have established Vivo Support Limited which 
provides care to a wide range of vulnerable people and 
Hera Management Services Limited which specialises in 
residential property management. Profits from all of these 
activities will ultimately be invested in developing new 
affordable housing.  

We continue to involve our residents at all levels in the 
running of our organisation.  We have plans in place for 
the forthcoming year to further increase resident scrutiny 
of our services through the introduction of a resident 
scrutiny panel.  We have also involved our residents in 
our response to the revised regulatory framework and in 
particular our work on the more robust Value for Money 
standard.

We have reported a surplus for the year of £15.0m. The 
ambitious but realistic plans we have in place will allow us 
to continue to develop new affordable housing and further 
broaden the range of services that we offer.

I would like to thank all the staff for their continued efforts 
and commitment over what has been a demanding year 
and I have no doubt of Swan’s further progress next year. 

Chairman’s Introduction

Richard Frost
Chair - Swan Housing Association
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Operating and Financial Review

Swan Housing Group (“Swan”) was formed in 1998 with 
the transfer of some 2,600 properties in Basildon.  Swan 
now owns and manages over 11,000 properties in East 
London and Essex. 

Swan’s principal activities are summarised below: 

• providing affordable homes for people who 
cannot afford to rent or buy in the open market, 
this includes the new affordable rent product and 
shared ownership

• providing a general needs housing service and a 
service for the Association’s leaseholders

• providing key worker accommodation
• investing in the community and involving 

residents
• providing supported housing services
• regenerating and develop sustainable 

communities
• providing care and support services
• providing property management services.

Our activities are focused on delivering our mission to 
“create homes and communities that people want to 
live in.”

Principal Activities
The Board is pleased to report a surplus for the year 
of £15.0m. This includes another excellent contribution 
from Swan New Homes who delivered a profit of £11.6m 
before gift aid and tax. Swan New Homes sold 148 
properties across six schemes including Streamlight, 
Beechwood Village, Parkway, Spring Gardens, Oldchurch 
and Bow Cross.

The Group balance sheet remains strong. Capital and 
Reserves have increased from £716m to £746m. Interest 
cover and net debt per unit, our key loan covenants, have 
improved in the year and continue to meet our lender’s 
requirements. Operational performance has improved 
as evidenced by a lower arrears percentage and a faster 
turnaround of void properties, a top quartile performance 
in our peer group.

Business and Financial Review

Fun Day at Bow Cross, July 2012
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Operating and Financial Review

Housing
Housing service key performance indicators continue 
to improve overall with positive trends across a number 
of areas.  Highlights for the year include an increase in 
customer satisfaction to 83.5% and the improvements in 
income recovery and management of empty homes noted 
above.  

Our service improvement programme ‘Striving for 
Excellence’ has a clear focus on the delivery of real 
improvements to enhance our residents’ quality of life.  
We launched our Green Champions programme for 
residents,  our ‘Smarter Swaps’ and ‘Making Moves’ 
schemes which have increased mobility and provided 
much better flexibility for tenants through mutual 
exchanges and transfers.  Money management courses 
were run for residents and we included information and 
advice on budgeting and saving in sign up packs for new 
tenants.  We delivered a range of equality and diversity 
training for employees and involved residents. We also 
tailored customer service training for all employees.  
Quarterly customer satisfaction surveys were introduced 
to help us have a clearer picture on what matters most 
to our customers. We ran a number of initiatives across 
East London and Essex to support residents accessing 
employment opportunities and set up a joint mystery 
shopping programme in partnership with two other 
Registered Providers. 

The year has seen important planning for some of the 
significant changes as a result of welfare reforms that 
are due to be implemented in 2013.  We have a clear 
focus on both mitigating financial risk for the business 
and at the same time supporting our residents to navigate 
the changes and to understand the new requirements 

that the reforms will bring.  Our new Digital Inclusion 
Statement clearly sets out our support to help our 
customers access online services and become more 
digitally aware.

Part of our work to support this has been the launch of 
our new website and enhanced access for residents 
to our services via the new Tenant’s Portal.  Our new 
website complements our web4residents site which 
continues to receive positive feedback by supporting our 
residents in becoming involved in the work that Swan 
does, accessing our services and as a learning tool.  

Our customer satisfaction data tells us that the 
management of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and the 
perceptions of crime are key priorities for residents.  
During the year we launched a specialist ASB service 
which will help partnership working with the local police, 
local authority partners and the voluntary sector.  

Driving up Value for Money, in particular for the service 
charges our residents pay, has been a key priority for 
the year.  Our new Value for Money strategy sets clear 
objectives on what we want to achieve over the coming 
three years and we will be publishing an annual report on 
how we have achieved our Value for Money objectives 
and what our plans are for 2014/15.

The theme of our annual Residents’ Conference in 
June 2012 was “Facing the Challenges and Supporting 
Residents”.  Residents had the opportunity to be involved 
in decision making in relation to our tenant repair 
scheme, development of our web4residents website and 
our Residents’ Annual Report.

Operational Performance

Spring Gardens, Romford
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Forest Gate PFI
We have now successfully completed the regeneration 
element of the Private Finance Initiative scheme at Forest 
Gate in the London Borough of Newham.  The year 
has seen conclusion of the Decent Homes programme 
with all homes completed to this new standard as well 
as a range of environmental improvement works to 
enhance the quality of life for residents in Forest Gate.  
All key performance indicators in the 20 year housing 
management and maintenance contract were achieved, 
along with increased customer satisfaction from local 
residents with Swan’s services. Forest Gate residents 
play an active role in the work we do to involve residents 
at strategic level.

Care and Support
Our care and supported people services have delivered 
positive results during the year. Swan House Foyer and 
Dove Cott House both achieved foyer accreditation status 
and passed the housing related support contract review. 
Both foyers have also been nominated to participate in 
the Foyer Federation’s working assets project. 

Vivo, our new dedicated care and support business, 
achieved a fully compliant short notice inspection by the 
Care Quality Commission in December. Vivo is building a 
strong reputation in Essex and is well positioned to meet 
the growing demand for domiciliary care.

Asset Management
Our strategic partnership with Axis continues to 
focus on delivering improved Value for Money whilst 
improving customer satisfaction with the service. Further 
progress has been made in delivering environmental 
improvements to assist sustainability. Adaptation 
and conversion works have continued to address the 
challenges of overcrowding and assist residents with 
mobility issues.

Development Activity
Our development activities remain a key part of our 
corporate strategy.  We are committed to our approach to 
regeneration which brings together all the skill sets from 
across the group (neighbourhood and housing services, 
employment, benefit advice, care and support, the work 
of the Swan Foundation etc) to make the biggest impact 
on the communities we work in.  

We have just started work at Blackwall Reach in Tower 
Hamlets where construction has commenced. This 
scheme is a housing led regeneration project aiming to 
deliver 1,575 new homes. The project will also include 
local shops, commercial premises, community facilities 
and improvements to the existing primary school.

Regeneration work is also due to commence in 2013 
following the stock transfer of Repton Court and 
Claire House from the London Borough of Redbridge. 
Considerable work has been completed with the local 
residents in developing a regeneration scheme that will 
see the demolition of existing homes and the re-provision 
of over 140 new homes for rent and sale, greatly 
enhancing the local area. 

Development and construction works are progressing 
on a number of live schemes. 204 properties are under 
construction on the next phase of Beechwood Village 
in Basildon, 84 properties at Oldchurch in Romford, 74 
properties at Angel Way in Romford and 111 properties in 
the final phase of Bow Cross in Tower Hamlets.

Swan New Homes sold 148 properties in 2012/13 
generating an £11.6m profit before gift aid and tax. 309 
properties were handed over to the Housing Association 
during the year.

Operating and Financial Review

Angel Way, Romford

The Swan/Axis Partnership
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Property Management

Hera is our new property management business. It 
already manages over 600 leaseholders and tenants 
and has a plan to support its ambition to increase this 
customer base in the year ahead. Clients include private 
sector landlords, developers, resident management 
companies and the Housing Association.

Corporate and Social Responsibility (CSR)

We are committed to our Corporate and Social 
Responsibility strategy. During the year we have set up 
a ground maintenance and landscaping service which 
employs our residents to maintain our stock. The aim of 
this initiative is to provide practical skills, qualifications 
and work experience to assist residents in securing long 
term employment. 

Our worklessness strategy has helped our residents gain 
employment in Estate Services, Vivo and Swan Care 
& Repair during the year whilst a further 98 have been 
helped into work through apprenticeships, trainee and 
work experience schemes.

We were awarded a ‘Silver’ rating in an audit conducted 
by SHIFT (Sustainable Homes Index for Tomorrow). 
This award is formal recognition of our work in actively 
promoting sustainability to staff and residents and our 
commitment to reduce the impact our activities have on 
the environment.

“We are committed to our Corporate 
and Social Responsibility strategy”

Operating and Financial Review

Case Study
We recently received funding from Essex 
County Council to provide paid work 
experience to young residents from the 
Swan House Foyer and the Dove Cott 
Parent and Child Scheme in Basildon. Jack 
Knight, 19, was successful in his application 
for the position of Junior Caretaker and 
began working with the Estate Services 
team in July.

Jorgen Dyer, Head of Estate Services, was 
so impressed with Jack’s performance that 
he has offered Jack a position within the 
team, with the opportunity to train as a 
caretaker.

“Jack has shown great commitment 
and enthusiasm. He has become a 
valuable member of the team and we 
look forward to welcoming him on a 
full time basis.” said Jorgen.

Work Experience Leads To Job 
For Jack
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Swan Foundation 

Swan Foundation is a charity dedicated to improving 
people’s lives. Its mission is to develop and build 
the capacity of those people living in socially and 
economically disadvantaged communities in (but not 
exclusively) Essex and East London to enable the 
regeneration of disadvantaged areas by relieving poverty, 
increasing employment prospects and reducing the 
effects of economic and social exclusion.

The Foundation aims to build partnerships with 
businesses to invest in communities and turn aspirations 
into reality. During the year we secured the free use 
of up to 1,000 mobile phones in partnership with Olive 
Communications. The phones offer a wide range of 
opportunities by improving communication for sections of 
our communities where this may have been difficult due 
to security or cost reasons.

Social Return on Investment (SROI)

The Swan Foundation has pioneered a social return on 
investment framework during the year.  We are striving 
to measure the social value our Foundation projects 
create and to understand the impact they have within the 
community.

The SROI framework attributes monetary values to the 
social outcomes of a project and compares this to the 
input costs of a project to calculate a social return on 
investment.

For example, the mobile phones provided to the Stratford 
Theatre generated £4 of social value for every £1 of 
investment.  This demonstrates a positive social return 
for the project and provides a tangible corporate social 
responsibility outcome for Olive Communications.
 
Our ability to achieve the Foundation’s objectives by 
delivering private company corporate social responsibility 
is a growth opportunity that we intend to explore next 
year.

Operating and Financial Review

Case Study
In partnership with Olive Communications, 
the Swan Foundation have 1,000 mobile 
phones with free calls, texts and mobile 
internet access.  The first of these phones 
have recently been distributed to support a 
range of identified issues.
 
Basildon Women’s Aid received phones to 
improve the safety of their residents.  The 
phones enable staff to remotely control 
doors via the internet and offer women 
escaping domestic violence secure options 
for calling family and relatives.
 

Stratford Theatre East requested handsets 
to support the young people attending 
development groups.  They help in keeping 
contact with participants and updating 
candidates with forthcoming events.
 

Swan Housing young people’s homeless unit 
requested phones to aid their residents 
search and apply for jobs and contact 

1,000 Chances To Help
benefit officers to discuss the welfare reform which 
will come into action later this year.
 
The phones offer a wide range of opportunities 
by improving communication for sections of our 
communities where this may have been difficult 
whether through security or cost reasons.
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Our People
We recognise the importance of our people in the 
successful delivery of our objectives. During the year we 
have continued to invest in the training and development 
of our staff including NVQs in Business Administration, 
e-learning modules and Windows 2007 following an 
upgrade of our IT platform. All of our staff have also 
undertaken training on anti-bribery, data protection and 
environmental awareness during the year.

We have run refresher training for all employees on 
the behaviours we expect them to demonstrate and 
plan to cluster them further under the two headings of 
Professionalism and Can Do. We are also introducing 
Integrity as a fourth value to accompany the existing 
values of In-touch, Insistent and Imaginative.

Plans are in place to further enhance our learning 
and development offering which will include a two-tier 
management development programme.

The results of our employee satisfaction survey were 
encouraging with an overall satisfaction rating of 76.7% 
placing us in the upper quartile of The Leadership Factor 
clients. 80% of our staff responded to the survey which 
indicates an excellent level of employee engagement.

Our average absence for the year was 4.7 days per 
employee against a target of 5.5 days. This has been 
achieved through both the close monitoring of absence 
as well as the development of our quarterly ‘Health 
Matters’ newsletter offering advice and tips on health 
issues.

Operating and Financial Review

Health and Safety
Our health and safety performance continues to be 
reviewed on a monthly basis at a committee attended 
by representatives from across the business, at the 
Executive level in a Health and Safety Committee chaired 
by the Chief Executive, and on a quarterly basis by the 
Board.   

Throughout the year Swan has undertaken further work 
to imbed health and safety throughout the business 
and all staff have received training on working safely.  
The Executive team continues to monitor our progress 
through the Corporate Risk Register.  This is enabling us 
to effectively manage and complete necessary legislative 
requirements whilst always striving for best practice.

Our improvements are noted across the workforce with 
even further engagement and an increase in awareness 
of health and operational requirements.  This proactive 
approach to health and safety will continue and further 
training is being rolled out across all employees next 
year.

Dimension, Chelmsford
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Operating and Financial Review

Key Risk Action Being Taken

• Significant falls in property prices or a 
material slowdown in the housing market 
would have a detrimental effect on our 
business plan due to a reduction in the 
profits from the sale of new homes

• Robust appraisal process and prudent 
assumptions with regards to sales values

• Experienced sales and marketing team
• Regular options appraisals on scheme 

tenure mix

• Failure to comply with financial and other 
covenants in loan documentation as a result 
of inaccurate cash flow forecasting or other 
issues would have an adverse effect on our 
business plan

• Well established cash flow forecasting and 
business planning process

• Clear understanding of loan documentation 
and associated covenants

• Government policy with regards to 
availability of capital grant may restrict 
development activities in the future

• Continue with the development of new 
models to fund future development activities

• Government policy with regards to the rents 
we can charge may have an adverse effect 
on our business plan

• Business planning includes sensitivity 
analysis to model the impact of changes in 
key variables such as rent levels

• The changes to the benefits system as 
a result of welfare reform may have an 
adverse effect on rent arrears

• Detailed action plan in place to address the 
impact of welfare reform

• Continue the use of welfare benefits 
advisors to provide support and advice to 
residents

• Clear understanding of the potential 
financial impact of Welfare Reform 

• The failure of a strategic partner could 
lead to a deterioration in service levels 
to residents or a delay in the delivery of 
development projects 

• Ongoing monitoring and review of the 
performance of strategic partners

Effective management of these risks is given a high priority within Swan and appropriate risk mitigations and controls 
are in place.

Risk Management 
Swan has an embedded culture of risk management.  
Our Risk Management Policy defines our risk appetite, 
the role of the Board, Audit & Risk Committee, Managers 
and Staff.    

Through risk management we:

• embed risk assessment and risk management 
into the culture of the organisation

• carry out risk assessments on all departments 
and significant projects

• monitor the overall impact of risks to ensure that 
the overall level of risk remains within acceptable 
limits

• minimise losses, injury and damage and reduce 
the cost of risk

• ensure appropriate mitigating actions are taken 
to address identified risks

• review key risks at Board and Audit & Risk 
Committee

• review and report on the effectiveness of risk 
management and our internal controls annually. 

The key risks to the successful achievement of our 
mission are set out below:
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Operating and Financial Review

The Committee, the Staff Value for Money Group and 
the Residents’ Value for Money Panel have been fully 
involved in the development of this strategy. The clear 
roles of these groups and reporting links in place will 
enable a comprehensive picture of costs and outcomes to 
inform our annual published self-assessment to residents, 
service users and stakeholders.  In addition consideration 
has been given to the needs and requirements of other 
stakeholders such as partner organisations, contractors 
and the Social Housing Regulator

The key objectives of the Value for Money strategy are:

• the ongoing assessment of investment decisions 
to ensure they meet Swan’s corporate objectives

• to understand the costs of delivering services, 
the quality this provides and how we compare 
with others

• to measure Value for Money gains achieved each 
year including the financial and social return on 
our assets

• to embed the principles of Value for Money 
throughout all Swan’s diverse business streams.

Framework

We have developed a Value for Money framework to help 
us deliver against our objectives. The following key areas 
have been identified:

• Procurement
• Asset Management
• Service Reviews
• Budget Setting and Management
• Benchmarking
• Employee Activity
• Resident and Service User Involvement
• Investment in Development and New Business.

The framework has been used in our detailed self-
assessment report and we are pleased, but not 
complacent, with the progress we have made this 
year. The excellent £11.6m of gift aid generated from 
properties built for private sale and the £1.5m of stock 
disposal proceeds as part of our stock rationalisation 
strategy illustrate a commitment to maximising the return 
on our assets and demonstrates that Value for Money is 
integral to how we operate. 

A summary of our key achievements are presented 
graphically on the next page to highlight our progress this 
year.

Further details of our Value for Money strategy and the 
Value for Money self-assessment report can be found on 
our website.

Value for Money

Definition

Swan’s definition of Value for Money is that we focus on 
obtaining the best value from our available resources 
to allow us to deliver better services, more homes and 
effective communities both in terms of quantity and 
quality and the social value provided. The key elements 
are:

• a clear Corporate Plan on what we want to 
achieve as a business

• ensuring we invest in the right assets including 
Human Resources at the right price

• ensuring our services and outputs are customer 
driven and that there is efficient and effective 
delivery

• achieving the right outcomes for Swan and then 
evaluating success, including social value

• reinvesting Value for Money gains to achieve 
more.

Governance and Strategy

The Board has overall responsibility for ensuring Swan 
delivers Value for Money across all its business streams 
and considers both service delivery and investment 
decisions. 

The revised Regulatory Framework introduced by the 
Social Housing Regulator in April 2012 sets out a new 
Value for Money requirement as part of the group of 
Economic Standards.  Swan’s Value for Money strategy 
has been developed to meet these new requirements.

The Service Improvement and Value for Money 
Committee, which has been overseeing efficiency and 
Value for Money at Swan for some time, has led on the 
delivery of this strategy. This committee also monitors 
performance and oversees Service Reviews to ensure we 
meet our strategic objectives.

The Residents’ Value for Money Panel plays a key role 
in monitoring Value for Money activities and reporting 
progress to the Resident Consultative Committees.  
Residents are involved in shaping service delivery 
and assessing the quality of performance, for example 
residents have been directly involved in determining the 
value of the service, such as establishing the Decent 
Homes Plus Standard and the Lettable Standard.  
Residents are involved in procurement and the selection 
of contractors and they monitor performance through 
mystery shopping and Quality Panels. 

Staff are involved through the Staff Value for Money 
Group which has responsibility for implementing the 
Value for Money strategy and the supporting action 
plan.  The Staff Suggestion Scheme has recently been 
reviewed to promote the identification of Value for Money 
initiatives in order to help embed Value for Money across 
the organisation.  
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Operating and Financial Review

Investment in development and New Business
• 148 private units sold this year generating  

£11.6m gift aid which will be invested in new 
social housing 

• 309 units of social and affordable homes 
developed in the year

• Plans to deliver 888 new homes over the next 
three years.

Procurement
The retendering of services (insurance, brokerage, 
internal audit, health and safety, office equipment, 
grounds maintenance) that will deliver savings in 
excess of £250,000 over coming years.

Asset Management
• Continued investment to maintain quality of 

housing stock.  All homes meet decent homes 
standard with SAP rating of  69

• Commenced stock rationalisation strategy
• Disposed of 30 units in Ipswich generating  cash 

proceeds of £1.5m
• £70,000 of savings from partnership costs.

Resident and Service User Involvement
• Over 200 residents actively involved in monitoring 

performance, quality of service and improving 
satisfaction

• Mystery shopping service has been successful in 
identifying areas for improvement

• Work experience initiatives have delivered £4.19 in 
social value for every £1 spent.

Employee Activity
• The staff Value for Money panel has been refreshed 

during the year
• The Staff Suggestion Scheme has been re- launched 

and staff suggestions implemented including a 
‘golden goodbye scheme’ to reward residents leaving 
a property in good condition.

Benchmarking
• We continue to be an active member of the 

Housemark benchmarking club
• We analyse 67 indicators to understand how we 

perform relative to our peers
• Analysis of the latest results has driven the 

programme of Service Reviews for 2013/14 which 
includes IT, tenancy management and satisfaction 
with new homes.

Service Reviews
Service Reviews delivered the following:
• Employed 2 ASB officers on fixed 1 year contracts to 

enhance quality of service
• Right First Time review led to improvements in 

quality of service and improvements in resident 
satisfaction.

Budget Setting and Management
• Zero based approach to budget setting ensures 

resources are deployed efficiently and effectively in 
line with our corporate objectives

• Restructured loan facility which will deliver  £200,000 
saving in interest costs over the next year.

Value for Money 
Framework 
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Operating and Financial Review

Capital structure and treasury management

The Group Treasury Policy sets out the controls and 
parameters for treasury activities across the Group and 
is approved annually by the Board.  In compiling these 
policies, good practice from the CIPFA Code of Practice 
for Treasury Management in Public Services, as well 
as Treasury Management Policy Statements and Good 
Practice Notes issued by the Social Housing Regulator, 
have been recognised.

The objective is to ensure that the Group has sufficient 
cash in place to fund operations and investments for a 
minimum of three years.

The Group borrowing requirements are based on a 
prudent approach to business planning which includes 
sensitivity testing to ensure that they can cope with major 
changes in circumstances without breaching investor 
covenants.  This includes testing different scenarios of 
property sales prices, volumes of sales and differing 
levels of inflation and interest rates.

Loan Facilities

As at 31 March 2013 we had two committed loan 
facilities totalling £550m.  This consists of a £510m 
syndicated loan facility with drawn funding of £445m 
(£440m March 2012) and a £40m PFI facility from 
RBS with drawn funding of £38m (£39m March 2012).  
We seek to diversify our funding sources with all funds 
coming from five banks.

As at 31 March 2013 we maintained £35m of 
committed undrawn facility available for borrowing.  In 
line with our prudent policies on liquidity management, 
this undrawn facility meets all our contractually 
committed developments in the coming years.

Counterparty risk management

We maintain a formal counterparty policy in respect of 
those financial institutions from which we will borrow or 
invest.  On investments, we regard the prime objective 
of Treasury Management activity to be the security of 
the principal sums invested.  Accordingly, we ensure 
that counterparty lists and limits reflect a prudent 
attitude towards institutions with which the funds may be 
deposited.

Compliance with Loan Covenants

Interest cover and net debt per unit are monitored 
monthly, and reported annually to finance providers.  
For the year ended 31 March 2013, the interest cover 
and net debt per unit were in compliance with the loan 
covenants.

Interest rate risk management

We continue to be risk aware in our approach to 
interest rate management.  We maintain a policy of 
hedging of debt in predominantly fixed rate embedded 
loans and a small proportion in index linked borrowing.  
At year end, this policy resulted in a portfolio that was 
48% fixed rate, 47% floating rate and 5% index linked.  
We do not have any non-Sterling or exchange rate 
exposures.



Swan I Annual Report 2013 17

Committed Funding

Undrawn debt

Drawn Debt

Committed funding

Drawn debt 93%

Undrawn debt 7%

Debt repayment profile

Between one and five years 3%

Within one year 0%

Hedging activity

Between five and twenty years 54%

Over twenty years 43%

Fixed rate (callable < 1 year) 11%

Fixed rate (non-callable) 29%

Fixed rate (callable > 1 year) 8%

RPI linked 6%

Variable rate 46%

Debt Repayment Profile

Within one year

Between one and five years

Between five and twenty years

Over twenty years

Hedging Activity

Fixed rate (non-callable)

Fixed rate (callable < 1 year)

Fixed rate (Callable > 1 year)

Variable rate

RPI Linked

Hedging Activity

Fixed rate (non-callable)

Fixed rate (callable < 1 year)

Fixed rate (Callable > 1 year)

Variable rate

RPI Linked



Report of the Board

In December 2012 the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA) published their latest assessment of Swan’s 
performance against the governance and viability 
standards.

The HCA uses a grading system from 1 to 4.  A grading 
of 1 or 2 indicates compliance with the standard whilst 
a grading of 3 indicates a level of concern in respect of 
performance.  Grade 4 would be used to indicate a failing 
in governance or viability.  Swan has been graded 1 for 
viability and 3 for governance.   

During the year a comprehensive action plan has 
been in place to address the concerns identified with 
regards to the operation of internal controls in relation 
to the development function.  Furthermore, over recent 
months we have been working with a specialist advisor 
to review the governance arrangements for the group.  
Their findings have been reported to the Board and their 
recommendations accepted.  We are in the process of 
implementing a revised governance structure and it is the 
Board’s committed aim to address the concerns raised by 
the HCA in their assessment of our performance.

The Board has adopted the National Housing 
Federation’s 2010 Governance Code: Excellence in 
Governance and the National Housing Federation’s Code 
of Conduct.  In accordance with the underlying “comply or 
explain” principle of such codes, this section of the report 
seeks to provide detail about:

• the Board and its role
• Board effectiveness
• relations with stakeholders 
• how the Board operates.

The Board is committed to adherence to these codes 
and to high standards of conduct.  The Group does not 
currently publish a list of interests of its Board members.  
In all other instances, the Board considers it complies 
with these codes.

The Board and its Role

Swan Housing Association Limited is a Housing 
Association constituted under the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Act 1965. The Rules of the Association are its 
principal document of constitution and regulate various 
matters including the Board, its powers and its role. 

The Board’s role is to provide strategic direction and 
to govern, control and scrutinise the Association’s 
operations. It also provides advice to subsidiary Boards 
and management. At the year end, the Board comprised  
six shareholder members and six co-opted members. 
Changes in Board membership during the year are 
detailed on page 3 of these Financial Statements. 

Board members during the year were all non-executive 
members, except for John Synnuck the Chief Executive 
who resigned from the Board on 3 December 2012. 
Some members are tenants of the Group. Six persons 
are co-opted to the Board from the Regional Committees 

so that tenants are represented at Board meetings. 
Membership of the Board is reviewed regularly by the 
Board to ensure that the combined Board has a range 
of skills, knowledge and experiences appropriate for its 
needs. Board membership is usually for a three year 
term with a maximum of nine years, except for co-
optees who are appointed annually. Board members 
have formal service agreements, are expected to devote 
the necessary time to prepare for and attend all Board 
meetings and the meetings of those Committees of which 
they are members, together with appropriate training, 
appraisal and other review meetings. Members are paid 
as detailed in the Board Remuneration section below. 

The Group maintains directors and officers liability 
insurance for its board members and officers, which 
is renewed annually. The Board is given access to 
independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense when the Board so requires.

Board Effectiveness

The Board receives regular updates upon the 
performance of the Group’s businesses, the legal and 
the regulatory environments in which they operate and 
developments in their sectors through briefings included 
in Board papers or other presentations.

The Board has established a process for the annual 
evaluation of the performance of individual members by 
the Chair and the Board as a whole. The Board from time 
to time gathers together for training and development 
activity and to consider wider issues such as succession 
planning. Individual members may undertake training 
or development activity as identified by them or in their 
annual evaluations.

The Board tours locations of the Group, enabling it to 
meet tenants and other service users at least annually.

Corporate Governance
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Meeting attendance
Relations with Stakeholders

The principal stakeholders of the Group are its tenants, 
service users, employees, local authorities, the Greater 
London Authority, the Homes and Communities Agency 
and funders. Tenants are currently represented on 
the Board through the co-option of six members from 
Regional Committees of the Board, the responsibilities 
of which are detailed below in the section How the Board 
Operates. The operations of the Association are regulated 
by the Social Housing Regulator and the Board pays 
particular interest to the regular reporting to that body. As 
noted above, occasionally the Board has the opportunity 
to meet tenants and service users and obtains feedback 
from various tenant facing committees including Resident 
Consultative Committees, which are not committees of 
the Board. 

Relations with employees are managed through 
the Executive Directors and through an Employee 
Representative Committee. Relations with funders are 
also primarily managed through the Executive Directors. 

How the Board Operates
   

The Board has set out Standing Orders, a Scheme 
of Delegations, a Code of Conduct and Financial 
Regulations to codify various matters for the better 

operation of the Group’s business and within which 
it expressly reserves specified significant matters for 
its sole decision. The Board meets regularly and has 
established a number of Committees to which the Board 
has delegated certain responsibilities under formal Terms 
of Reference.  The Board also meets with the Executive 
Directors regularly during the year.

The Board and most of its Committees meet at least four 
times per year. The meetings held during the year and 
the attendance of individual members at each is detailed 
below. Each entry is displayed as a fraction which has the 
number of meetings actually attended as the numerator 
and the number of meetings held and which could have 
been attended as the denominator.

Board and Committee members receive all papers 
for the appropriate meetings even if they have made 
notification that they are unable to attend.  Membership 
of Committees is reviewed and determined annually. 
Committee appointments may involve non Board 
members, but the attendance of those Committee 
members who are neither Board members or co-opted to 
the Board is not detailed in the table below for reasons of 
brevity.

Swan 
HA 
Main 
Board

Essex 
Regional 
Comm

London 
Regional 
Comm

Audit 
& Risk 
Comm

Finance & 
Personnel 
Comm

Service 
Improv 
Comm

Remuneration 
Comm

E&D Comm

Richard Frost (Chair) 7/7 - - - - 5/5 3/3 1/1
George Kieffer 7/7 - - 4/4 4/4 - 3/3 1/3
Derek Morrison 
(Treasurer)

5/7 - - 3/4 3/4 - 3/3 -

Gideon Amos 
(resigned 1 April 2012)

- - - - - - - -

Sheila Belgrave (Vice 
Chair, resigned 3 
December 2012)

3/5 - - - - - 0/2 2/2

Tyson Bunby 6/7 - 4/4 - - - 1/3 2/3
John Elkins (appointed 
17 September 2012)

3/4 2/2 - - - 2/3

Carol Franklin 7/7 3/4 - - - - - -
Tim Gerrard 6/7 - 4/4 4/4 - - 2/3 -
Natasha Greaves 
(appointed 3 
December 2012)

1/3 - 0/1
3/4

- 1/2 -

Anthony Holland 6/7 2/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 - - -
Steve King 6/7 - - 4/4 4/4 5/5 - -
Angela Lyon 5/7 - - 2/4 2/4 - - -
Colin Wannell 6/7 - 4/4 4/4 4/4 - - -
John Synnuck 
(appointed 1 April 
2012, resigned 3 
December 2012)

5/5 - - - - - - -
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A brief overview of the constitution and responsibilities 
of the six principal Committees of the Board is given 
below. Other panels and working groups are formed as 
considered appropriate to deal with particular issues as 
they arise.

Finance & Personnel Committee

The Finance & Personnel Committee consists of seven 
members.  It meets at least four times per year and 
monitors Group accounting policies and considers 
financial, funding and human resources issues.  It 
reviews and endorses the budget, management accounts 
and treasury policies and considers the financial 
parameters for new business developments, as well as 
considering human resources policies and practices. It is 
chaired by the Treasurer of Swan Housing Association.

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee consists of seven members 
and also meets at least four times per year.  It receives 
reports from the external and internal auditors and 
reviews the processes for audit and risk management. It 
is chaired by a member of the Board who is not the Chair 
of the Board of Swan Housing Association.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee usually comprises the 
Chair, Vice Chair and Treasurer of Swan Housing 
Association and the Chairs of each of the two Regional 
Committees and up to two others. It meets at least 
annually and considers Board appointments, the working 
arrangements and remuneration of the Chief Executive 
and Executive Directors. 

Essex and London Regional Committees

These two Committees each comprise up to twelve 
members, eight of whom are to be tenants or service 
users and four independent. Each Committee meets 
at least four times per year. Each is responsible for 
monitoring the operational delivery of housing and 
related services for tenants or other service users in 
its respective region and to recommend appropriate 
changes.

Service Improvement and Value for Money Committee

This Committee usually comprises the Chair, another 
Board Member, a member from each of the two Regional 
Committees and a member of each of two Resident 
Consultation Committees together with a member of the 
Finance & Personnel Committee. It meets at, broadly, 
bi-monthly intervals and considers service improvement 
priorities, Value for Money initiatives and customer 
satisfaction and oversees a programme of Service 
Reviews. 

Equality and Diversity Committee

This Committee currently comprises four members with 
responsibility for keeping abreast of developments in this 
area and formulating action plans to ensure Swan meets 
its obligations with regard to Equality and Diversity.

Declarations of Interest

All Board and Committee members are required to 
declare any interests annually and otherwise at meetings 
where potential issues may arise.  Individuals with a 
relevant interest are required to leave the meeting, 
unless requested otherwise by the Board/Committee 
membership, and in any event do not vote on the issue 
concerned.
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Board Remuneration

The Board has determined, following advice and 
benchmarking, that it is appropriate, and continues to 
be appropriate, that Board members should be paid 
for their time and dedication. The annual fees paid to 

Board members in position at 31 March 2013 are set out 
below. In addition, Board members are reimbursed for 
any expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and in 
attending Board or Committee meetings. 

Board member £

Richard Frost (Chair) 11,400
George Kieffer 7,500
Derek Morrison (Treasurer) 10,000
Gideon Amos 6,706
Sheila Belgrave (Vice Chair) 10,000
Tyson Bunby 10,000
Carol Franklin 5,000
Tim Gerrard 4,760
Anthony Holland 4,940
Steve King 7,320
Angela Lyon 5,000
Colin Wannell 4,760

Executive Directors
 
The Executive Directors are listed on Page 3 and hold no 
interest in the share capital of any member of the Group. 
They act as Executives within the authority delegated by 
the Board. 

Particulars of the Group’s pension scheme (the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme), into which the Group pays 
contributions on behalf of the Executive Directors and 
other employees, are set out in Note 22 to the Financial 
Statements.

Going Concern

Following a review of the Group Budget for 2013/2014, 
based on normal business planning and control 
procedures, the members of the Board have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue its operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.  A revised long term business plan 
has been approved by the Board.  This reflects current 
projections in relation to development, rent restructuring 
and investment in existing stock.

Board’s statement on the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems

The system of internal control is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and to provide reasonable 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

The process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group is ongoing, has 
been in place throughout the period commencing 1 April 
2012 up to the date of approval of the report and financial 
statements.

Key elements of the control framework include:

• Board approved terms of reference and delegated 
authorities for audit, housing and finance committees

• clearly defined management responsibilities for the 
identification, evaluation and control of significant 
risks

• robust strategic and business planning processes, 
with detailed financial budgets and forecasts

• formal recruitment, retention, training and 
development policies for all staff

• established authorisation and appraisal procedures 
for significant new initiatives and commitments

• a sophisticated approach to treasury management 
which is subject to external review each year

• regular reporting to the appropriate committee on key 
business objectives, targets and outcomes

• Board approved whistle-blowing, anti-bribery, anti-
theft and corruption policies

• Board approved fraud policies, covering prevention, 
detection and reporting, together with recoverability 
of assets

• regular monitoring of loan covenants and 
requirements for new loan facilities.

The total amount paid above represents 0.1% (2012: 0.1%) of Group annual turnover.
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In order to fulfil its responsibility, the Board has a 
separately designated Group Audit & Risk Committee; 
it employs the services of an internal auditor and has 
adopted a strategic approach to risk management and 
quality improvement. Assurances are therefore gained 
from the following sources:

Audit Committee  

The Board has a designated Group Audit & Risk 
Committee; the terms of reference for which reflect the 
Housing Corporation’s good practice guide “Improving 
the effectiveness of Audit Committees”. The meetings are 
attended by the Chief Executive, Senior Finance Staff 
and other Directors as required.

This Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems 
of internal controls and reporting its conclusions to the 
Board, receiving reports from both the internal and 
external auditors.  

Internal Audit Function

The Group purchases an internal audit service. This work 
has been carried out in accordance with the Institute of 
Internal Auditors’ Standards and Guidance.

The internal auditor reports annually to the Group Audit 
& Risk Committee on the system of internal controls, with 
an opinion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of key 
internal control systems.  The internal auditor attends the 
Group Audit & Risk Committee to present reports and to 
report on management progress in implementing agreed 
recommendations.  

The internal audit is planned, based on the results of 
an Audit Needs Assessment.  A rolling programme is 
undertaken to cover the whole of the Group’s system of 
control.

External Audit

The work of the external auditors has been conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) and their audit opinion is contained within the 
financial statements. 

The terms of engagement of the external auditors 
provides that weaknesses in the structure of accounting 
systems and internal controls; inappropriate accounting 
policies and practices including non compliance with 
legislation, accounting standards and other regulations 
would be highlighted if identified as part of the normal 
audit work.

Any significant weaknesses in internal controls identified 
are reported to the Board and an action plan to address 
the weakness is agreed. No serious control weaknesses 
have been identified this year.

Auditors

A resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as 
auditors of the Association is to be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Quality Management Systems/Performance 
Indicators

During the year the Group has continued to comply with 
the criterion for ISO 9001:2000; adherence to this quality 
framework ensures that procedures used within the 
Group are developed and applied consistently.

ISO 14001 was maintained by the Association during the 
year and achieved for the first time in Swan New Homes.

The Group has successfully complied with the Customer 
Service Excellence standard, demonstrating its continued 
commitment to Customer Care.  We were accredited with 
five compliance plus levels, evidence of best practice 
within all organisations, in the areas of:

• reaching hard to reach and disadvantaged groups
• consultation being integral to improvement 
• insight on customers and service improvement 

including having an appropriate scrutiny framework 
• information is provided through a number of channels 

including Facebook 
• interaction with wider communities.

The Group continues to maintain its Investors in People 
accreditation: a business improvement tool designed 
to advance an organisation’s performance through its 
people and continuous improvement. The assessor 
concluded that “Swan as a business continues to meet 
and surpass the Investors in People national standard”.

Statement of Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing the report and 
financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Industrial and Provident Society legislation requires the 
Board to prepare financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law the Board members have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards
and applicable laws). Under the Industrial and Provident 
Society legislation the Board members must not approve
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the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
and surplus or deficit of the Association and Group for 
that period. In preparing these financial statements,
the Board members are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP) Accounting by Registered Housing Providers 
Update 2010, have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the association will continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and 
Association and enable it to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Acts 1965 to 2002. It is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Association and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In so far as each of the Board members is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the 
Association’s auditors are unaware

• the Board members have taken all steps that they 
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the auditors are aware of that information.

The Board members are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Association’s website. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board on July 2013           

John Synnuck
Chief Executive
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Swan 
Housing Association Limited

Independent auditor's report to the members of Swan 
Housing Association Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Swan 
Housing Association Limited for the year ended 31 March 
2013 which comprise the consolidated and association 
income and expenditure accounts, the consolidated and 
association statements of total recognised surpluses and 
deficits, the group and association note of historical cost 
surpluses and deficits, the consolidated and association 
reconciliations of movement in funds, the consolidated 
and association balance sheets, the consolidated cash 
flow statement and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the housing association’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with regulations 
made under Section 4 of the Friendly and Industrial 
and Provident Societies Act 1968. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the housing 
association’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the housing association and the housing association’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Board and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Responsibilities of the Board (set out on page 18), the 
Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) 
Ethical Standards for Auditors. In addition, we read 
all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Operating and financial review and board report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the APB's website at 
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
association’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of its 
income and expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Industrial and Provident Societies Acts, 1965 to 2002, 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2012;

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Statement of Recommended 
Practice (SORP): Accounting for registered social 
housing providers.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 
1965 to 2002 require us to report if, in our opinion:

• a satisfactory system of control over transactions has 
not been maintained; or

• the association has not kept proper accounting 
records; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
books of account; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Cambridge, England

Date: 26 July 2013
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Consolidated income and expenditure account

Note 2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Turnover 2&3 104,789 106,258
Operating costs 2&3 (74,472) (75,330)
Impairment 2&3 - (4,952)
Operating surplus 2&3 30,317 25,976
Surplus on sale of properties 6 365 245
Interest receivable 7 274 84
Interest payable and similar charges 8 (15,867) (13,211)
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 9 15,089 13,094
Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 10 (74) (15)
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 15,015 13,079

The turnover and surplus/(deficit) for both the current and prior year relate to continuing activities.
The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of total recognised surpluses and 
deficits

2013
£’000

 2012
£’000

Surplus for the financial year 15,015 13,079
Prior year adjustments - 63,041
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of housing properties 10,589 22,874
Total surplus recognised since last financial statements 25,604 98,994

Consolidated note of historical cost surpluses and deficits

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Reported surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 15,089 13,094
Difference between historical depreciation charge and the actual charge 
for the year calculated on the revalued amount

1,132 837

Realisation of property revaluation gains 110 414
Historical cost surplus for the year before taxation 16,331 14,345
Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 16,257 14,330

The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 
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Association income and expenditure account

Note 2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Turnover 2&3 84,994 87,611
Operating costs 2&3 (54,654) (52,585)
Impairment 2&3 - (4,952)
Operating surplus 2&3 30,340 30,074
Surplus on sale of properties 6 365 245
Interest receivable 7 195 69
Interest payable and similar charges 8  (15,622) (12,983)
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 9 15,278 17,405
Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 10 - -
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 15,278 17,405

The turnover and surplus for the current and prior year relate to continuing activities. 

The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 

Association statement of total recognised surpluses and 
deficits

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Surplus for the financial year 15,278 17,405
Prior year adjustments - 63,041
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of housing properties 10,589 22,874
Total surplus recognised since last financial statements 25,867 103,320

Association note of historical cost surpluses and deficits
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Reported surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 15,278 17,405
Difference between historical depreciation charge and the actual charge 
for the year calculated on the revalued amount

1,132 837

Realised profit on disposal 110 414
Historical cost surplus for the year before taxation 16,520 18,656
Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 16,520 18,656

The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 
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Note 2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Intangible and tangible fixed assets
Goodwill 11a 980 -
Housing properties 11b 623,219 607,418
Other tangible fixed assets 11c 4,439 4,608
Total intangible and tangible assets 628,638 612,026
Current assets
Properties held for sale and work in progress 12 49,870 58,447
Debtors due within one year 13a 8,483 13,055
Debtors due after one year 13b 38,996 31,059
Cash at bank and in hand 42,841 28,269

140,190 130,830
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (22,942) (26,961)
Net current assets 117,248 103,869
Total assets less current liabilities 745,886 715,895
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15 485,910 481,523
Capital and reserves
Share capital non-equity 16 - -
Income and expenditure account 17 71,563 55,306
Revaluation reserve 17 188,413 179,066
Consolidated funds 259,976 234,372
Capital and reserves 745,886 715,895

The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 1 July 2013 and signed on its behalf by: 

Company Number: 28496R

Balance Sheets

Richard Frost
Chair

George Keiffer
Vice Chair

Jamie Smith
Company Sec
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Association balance sheet

Note 2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Tangible fixed assets
Housing properties 11b 626,612 610,723
Other tangible fixed assets 11c 4,409 4,608
Investment in subsidiaries 11d 4,562 -
Total fixed assets 635,583 615,331
Current assets
Properties held for sale 12 32,530 32,629
Debtors due within one year 13a 25,598 52,356
Debtors due after one year 13b 38,996 31,059

Cash at bank and in hand 34,212 12,674
131,336 128,718

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (15,140) (22,482)
Net current assets 116,196 106,236
Total assets less current liabilities 751,779 721,567
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15 485,869 481,524
Capital and reserves
Share capital non-equity 16 - -
Income and expenditure account 17 77,497 60,997
Revaluation reserve 17 188,413 179,066
Association funds 265,910 240,043
Capital and reserves 751,779 721,567

The notes on pages 32 to 58 form part of the financial statements. 

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 1 July 2013 and signed on its behalf by:

Company Number: 28496R

Richard Frost
Chair

George Keiffer
Vice Chair

Jamie Smith
Company Sec
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Note 2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Net cash inflow from operating services A 36,936 13,211
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 274 84
Interest paid (15,711) (13,027)
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and 
servicing of finance

(15,437) (12,943)

Taxation
Corporation tax paid (51) (12)
Capital expenditure
Payments to acquire housing property assets (21,576) (29,656)
Capital grants received 7,134 2,063
Capital grants repaid (840) (21)
Payments to acquire other fixed assets (406) (458)
Receipts from sale of housing properties 3,619 3,746
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure (12,069) (24,326)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before management of 
liquid resources and financing

9,379 (24,070)

Management of liquid resources
Short term investments - -
Financing
Housing loans received 5,500 38,715
Housing loans repaid (307) -
Net cash inflow from financing 5,193 38,715
Increase in cash 14,572 14,645

Consolidated cash flow statement

Cash Flow Statement
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Cash Flow Statement

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

GROUP
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Operating surplus 30,317 30,928
Depreciation 7,389 6,944
Increase in debtors (4,345) (3,782)
Decrease in creditors (5,002) (5,779)
Movement in WIP and properties for sale 8,577 (15,100)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 36,936 13,211

A. Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Increase in cash in the year 14,572 13,082
Decrease in overdraft in the year - 1,563

14,572 14,645
Cash inflow from increase in debt financing (5,055) (36,892)
Change in net debt resulting from cashflows 9,517 (22,247)
Movement in net debt in the year 9,517 (22,247)
Net debt at 1 April 2012/ Net debt at 1 April 2011 (450,493) (428,246)
Net debt at 31 March 2013/ Net debt at 31 March 2012 (440,976) (450,493)

B. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

At 1 April 2012

£’000

Cash flow

£’000

At 31 March 
2013
£’000

Cash 28,269 14,572 42,841
Debt due after more than one year (436,805) (5,635) (442,440)
PFI loan (38,934) 580 (38,354)
Finance lease (3,023) - (3,023)
Total net debt (450,493) 9,517 (440,976)

C. Analysis of change in net debt
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Association is incorporated under the Industrial and 
Provident Societies Act 1965.  The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice for Registered Social Landlords 
updated in 2010 (the “SORP”) and applicable financial 
reporting standards, and comply with the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing.  A summary of the more important accounting 
policies, which have been applied consistently, are set 
out below.

Basis of accounting and going concern  

The financial statements are prepared on the historical 
cost basis of accounting as modified by the revaluation of 
housing properties. The financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption 
that the Group will continue to trade for the foreseeable 
future.

Group structure and basis of consolidation

Swan Housing Group (Swan) came into existence on 
1 April 1998.  The Group is required by the Industrial 
and Provident Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 
1969 to prepare group accounts.  The Group financial 
statements incorporate the financial statements of 
the parent, Swan Housing Association Limited, and 
its subsidiaries.  All the Group members’ results are 
presented as operations under common ownership 
and control in accordance with the requirements of 
Financial Reporting Standard 2 “Accounting for subsidiary 
undertakings”.

The results of businesses acquired or disposed of in the 
year are consolidated from or up to the effective date of 
acquisition or disposal respectively. The net assets of 
businesses acquired are incorporated in the consolidated 
accounts at their fair values at the date of acquisition. 
Transactions and balances between group companies 
are eliminated.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the difference between the cost of an acquired 
entity over the aggregate of the fair value of that entity’s 
identifiable assets and liabilities.  Positive goodwill is 
shown on the balance sheet as an asset and is amortised 
evenly over its estimated useful economic life.  In addition 
to systematic amortisation, the book value is written down 
to recoverable amount when any impairment is identified.  
Goodwill on acquisitions is amortised over 20 years.  In 
the opinion of the Board members, this represents a 
prudent estimate of the period over which the group will 
derive direct economic benefit from the goodwill acquired 
as part of these businesses.

1. Principal accounting policies

Basis of preparation Fixed assets and depreciation

Completed general needs and supported housing 
properties are valued on an Existing Use Value – Social 
Housing (EUV-SH) basis at least once every three years.  
The aggregate surplus or deficit on revaluation is the 
difference between the cost of the property less capital 
grants received and depreciation and the amount of the 
valuation. The excess of value over cost less grant and 
depreciation has been credited to a revaluation reserve. 

Where properties fall under the scope of component 
accounting the Group separately identifies the major 
components which comprise its housing properties, and 
charges depreciation, so as to write-down the cost of 
each component to its estimated residual value, on a 
straight line basis, over its estimated useful economic life.

Where social housing grant has been allocated to a 
component; the depreciable amount is arrived at on the 
basis of original cost, less the proportion of social housing 
grant and other grants attributable to the component, less 
residual value.

The Group depreciates the major components of its 
housing properties at the following annual rates: 

Structure 0.80%
Bathrooms 3.33%
Kitchens 5.00%
Electrics 3.33%
Boiler 6.66%
Windows 3.33%
Freehold land is not depreciated

Completed NHS key worker and market rented properties 
are stated at cost and depreciation is charged on a 
straight line basis over the lease term.

Housing properties under construction are stated at cost 
less capital development grants and are transferred to 
‘Completed Schemes’ once they are available for letting.  
No depreciation is provided on housing properties under 
construction.

Where properties are sold the portion of the revalued cost 
of sale that is in excess of the historic cost of sale for the 
property is released from the revaluation reserve and is 
transferred to the Income and Expenditure Account.   

For other tangible fixed assets, depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis over the expected economic 
useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates: 
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Freehold offices valued at over £1 
million

0.8% on valuation

Freehold offices not valued (or 
less than £1 million)

0.8% on cost

Office equipment and fittings 20% on cost
Computer equipment 25% on cost

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

Impairment

Impairment is defined as the diminution in value of an 
asset below that originally assessed when the asset 
was acquired or constructed.  Where properties are to 
be demolished as part of regeneration schemes or other 
development projects their net book value is charged to 
the Income and Expenditure Account in the year in which 
the decision to demolish was agreed.

Housing properties, including those with individual 
components, which are depreciated over a period in 
excess of 50 years are subject to impairment reviews 
annually. Other assets are reviewed for impairment if 
there is an indication that impairment may have occurred.

Planned impairments arising from strategic decisions 
relating to the Association’s charitable objectives in 
respect of assets which are expected to generate 
surpluses in the longer term are not recognised.

Software

Software expenditure is only capitalised where the 
underlying system represents new functionality and can 
be demonstrated to provide operational efficiencies.  All 
other software expenditure is written off in the year in 
which it is incurred.

Shared ownership properties

The cost of shared ownership properties are split 
between current and fixed assets on the basis of the 
percentage of the property sold from the forecast first 
tranche sale. Properties sold on shared ownership leases 
are recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account 
on the basis of the percentage first tranche sale and 
shown in turnover. 

Any subsequent sale of the remaining element of the 
shared ownership property is accounted for as a fixed 
asset disposal with any grant allocated to the property 
recycled and shown in Creditors. Any surpluses on 
disposal are recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Account.

Properties for sale

Shared ownership first tranche sales, completed 
properties for outright sale and property under 
construction are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour 
and direct development overheads. Net realisable value 
is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal.

Work in Progress consists of land and build costs already 
incurred on current developments. This is held at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value.

Private sales

Revenue from private housing sales is recognised at 
legal completion, net of incentives. Revenue from land 
sales is recognised on the unconditional exchange of 
contracts. Profit is recognised on a unit by unit basis.

Operating Leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to 
the Income and Expenditure Account on a straight line 
basis over the life of the lease.

Turnover

Turnover represents rental income receivable, income 
from private sales and shared ownership first tranche 
sales, fees, revenue grants from local authorities, the 
HCA and other income. It does not include proceeds 
from the sale of the Association’s housing properties, the 
net gain or loss from which is shown after the operating 
surplus in the Income and Expenditure Account.  

For the Forest Gate PFI, Swan has adopted a policy of 
accounting for the housing management and Decent 
Homes construction works on a separable basis.  The 
unitary charge received under the contract has been split 
according to the total costs of the separable elements 
of the contract.  Income and costs incurred on housing 
management will be recognised as incurred.  

The performance of the Decent Homes construction 
works will be forecast, including an allowance for risks, 
and a proportion of the resulting surplus taken in the 
year based on the percentage of works completed.  Full 
provision will be made for all known or expected losses 
immediately once such losses are foreseen. 

Government grants

Revenue grants are credited in proportion to the 
expenditure to which they relate and are treated as 
income to the Association.  Capital grants are shown in 
the balance sheet as a deduction from the capital asset 
to which they relate.  Grants received in advance are 
treated as creditors in the balance sheet to be matched 
against future capital expenditure as it is incurred.  
Housing Association Grant (HAG) is included under 
Social Housing Grant heading.

Capital development grants may be repayable under 
certain circumstances, primarily following the sale of 
a property.  Provision for repayment in the Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund is made in the Balance Sheet when 
properties which have previously received grant funding 
are sold.
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The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as 
obligations to the lessor. Rentals paid under operating 
leases (including those paid under Temporary Social 
Housing leases) are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account on an accruals basis.

Loan issue costs

Costs incurred in raising loan finance are initially 
recorded as a deduction from the gross proceeds of 
the loan and subsequently written off in the Income and 
Expenditure Account over the period during which the 
loan facility is utilised.  Loan issue costs not yet amortised 
are deducted from outstanding borrowings.

Rent arrears

A full provision is made against former tenant’s arrears 
and a phased percentage provision is made against 
current tenant balances with a maximum of 75% for 
balances outstanding for more than twenty weeks.

Taxation

The charge for the taxation for the period is based upon 
the result for the year, and includes deferred taxation. 
As a result of the Association’s status as a charity 
the Association is largely exempt from taxation. The 
Association’s subsidiaries are subject to taxation, but may 
make gift aid donations to the Association, which reduces 
their liability to taxation. 

Deferred tax is provided for on a full provision basis on 
all timing differences, which have arisen but not reversed 
at the balance sheet date.  No timing differences are 
recognised in respect of gains on sale of assets where 
those gains have been rolled over into replacement 
assets.  A deferred tax asset is not recognised unless it is 
more likely than not that it will be recovered.  Any assets 
and liabilities recognised are not discounted.
  

VAT

The Association and the majority of its subsidiaries are 
included in a Group VAT registration in the name of Swan 
Housing Association. The majority of the Association’s 
income, being rents, is exempt for VAT purposes, but 
other Group members generate taxable income. This 
combination gives rise to a partial exemption calculation.  
Expenditure for non-taxable activities is therefore shown 
inclusive of VAT and the input VAT recovered is credited 
against operating costs.  Expenditure on taxable activities 
is shown exclusive of VAT. 

Reserves

The Group establishes reserves for specific purposes 
where their use is subject to external restrictions and 
designated reserves where reserves are earmarked 
for a particular purpose.  The revaluation reserve is the 
difference between the market value of investments and 
the historical cost carrying value.    

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Principal accounting policies (continued)
Interest

Interest income is recognised when receivable.  Interest 
payable is accrued daily. Interest on the net borrowing 
of the Group as a whole is capitalised to the extent that 
the borrowing relates to development costs less capital 
grants received in relation to incomplete properties under 
construction or refurbishment.

Investments

Investments represent amounts on-lent by the 
Association to its subsidiaries under the Group financing 
arrangements.

Development on-costs

Costs associated with development projects are 
capitalised where they are directly attributable to 
bringing the properties into working condition for their 
intended use.  Such costs generally include professional 
fees, directly attributable staff salary costs incurred in 
administering the development programme and loan 
interest attributable to the scheme.  Costs incurred on 
schemes which are identified as abortive are written off in 
the year in which they are incurred.

Major repairs and improvements

Major repairs and improvements are capitalised to the 
extent that they extend the useful economic life of a 
property, increase the potential rental or sale value of 
a property or reduce future repair costs of the property. 
Major repairs in relation to the properties that fall under 
the scope of component accounting are written off over 
the periods disclosed in the accounting policy above. All 
other major repairs are written off in line with the property 
to which they relate. In other circumstances major repairs 
and improvements are charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account as incurred.

Pensions

Swan Housing Association Limited participates in a multi-
employer defined benefit scheme, the Social Housing 
Pension Scheme (SHPS).  It has not been possible to 
identify the share of underlying assets and liabilities 
belonging to individual participating employers therefore 
the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme.  The income and expenditure charge represents 
the employer contribution payable to the scheme for the 
accounting period. 

Swan Housing Association Limited currently operates a 
defined contribution benefit structure for active members.

Lease obligations

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements 
which give rights approximating to ownership, they are 
classified as finance leases and are treated as if they had 
been purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the 
present value of the minimum lease payment during the 
term of the lease. 
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Exmouth Estate, Tower Hamlets



Swan I Annual Report 2013 36

2013 2012

GROUP Turnover

£’000

Operating 
costs 

£’000

Surplus/ 
(deficit)

£’000

Turnover

£’000

Operating 
costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit)

£’000
Income and 
expenditure:
From social housing 
lettings

49,601 (24,197) 25,404 43,984     (19,890) 24,094

Other social 
housing activities:
Supporting People 
contract income

1,811 (1,902) (91) 3,555 (2,845) 710

Management 
services

- (10,570) (10,570) - (14,997) (14,997)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

3,465 (2,717) 748 2,465 (2,026) 439

Forest Gate Private 
Finance Initiative

17,824 (15,340) 2,484 13,572 (12,780) 792

Other 6 - 6 3,338 - 3,338
Development 
activities

- - - - (47) (47)

23,106 (30,529) (7,423) 22,930 (32,695) (9,765)
Non-social housing 
activities
Commercial lettings 120 - 120 102 - 102
Development 
activities

31,962 (19,746) 12,216 39,242 (22,745) 16,497

32,082 (19,746) 12,336 39,344 (22,745) 16,599
Impairment - - - - (4,952) (4,952)

104,789 (74,472) 30,317     106,258 (80,282) 25,976

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by
class of business
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. Turnover, operating costs and operating surplus by
class of business (continued)

2013 2012

ASSOCIATION Turnover

£’000

Operating 
costs 

£’000

Surplus/ 
(deficit)

£’000

Turnover

£’000

Operating 
costs 

£’000

Surplus/
(deficit)

£’000
Income and 
expenditure:
From social housing 
lettings

49,084 (24,124) 24,960 43,984 (19,890) 24,094

Other social 
housing activities:

Supporting People 
contract income

1,811 (1,903) (92) 3,555 (2,845) 710

Group management 
services

524 (10,570) (10,046) 324 (14,997) (14,673)

First tranche shared 
ownership sales

3,465 (2,717) 748 2,465 (2,026) 439

Forest Gate Private 
Finance Initiative

17,824 (15,340) 2,484 13,572 (12,780) 792

Other 12,166 - 12,166 23,609 - 23,609
Development 
activities

- - - - (47) (47)

35,790 (30,530) 5,260 43,525  (32,695) 10,830
Non-social housing 
activities
Commercial lettings 120 - 120   102 -   102

120 - 120 87,611 (52,585) 35,026
Impairment - - - - (4,952) (4,952)

84,994 (54,654) 30,340 87,611 (57,537) 30,074  

Note: Other income includes £12,131k (2012: £20,595K) of gift aid receivable from group companies.
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Notes to the Financial Statement

3. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings

GROUP General needs 
housing 

£’000

NHS Trust key
worker accom.

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

accom.

£’000

Total 
2013

£’000

Total 
2012

£’000
Rent receivable net 
of identifiable service 
charges

35,124 5,715 1,670 42,509 36,059

Service income 5,387 890 259 6,536 6,883
Net rental income 40,511 6,605 1,929 49,045 42,942
Lease income 556 - - 556 1,042
Turnover from social 
housing lettings

41,067 6,605 1,929 49,601 43,984

Management (3,708) (600) (175) (4,483) (1,805)
Services (2,876) (475) (139) (3,490) (4,988)
Routine maintenance (1,665) (275) (80) (2,020) (2,330)
Planned maintenance (2,064) (341) (100) (2,505) (3,510)
Property lease charges (176) (29) (9) (214) (227)
Bad debts (3,384) (559) (163) (4,106) (395)
Depreciation of housing 
properties

(6,082) (1,004) (293) (7,379) (6,635)

Operating costs on 
social housing lettings

(19,955) (3,283) (959) (24,197) (19,890)

Operating surplus on 
social housing lettings

21,112 3,322 970 25,404 24,094

Void losses (211) (788) (30) (1,029) (1,077)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. Particulars of income and expenditure from lettings
(continued)

ASSOCIATION General needs 
housing 

£’000

NHS Trust key 
worker accom.

£’000

Shared 
Ownership 

accom.

£’000

Total 
2013

£’000

Total 
2012

£’000
Rent receivable net 
of identifiable service 
charges

34,607 5,715 1,670 41,992 36,059

Service income 5,387 890 259 6,536 6,883
Gross rental income 39,994 6,605 1,929 48,528 42,942
Lease income 556 - - 556 1,042
Turnover from social 
housing lettings

40,550 6,605 1,929 49,084 43,984

Management (3,635) (600) (175) (4,410) (1,805)
Services (2,876) (475) (139) (3,490) (4,988)
Routine maintenance (1,665) (275) (80) (2,020) (2,330)
Planned maintenance (2,064) (341) (100) (2,505) (3,510)
Property lease charges (176) (29) (9) (214) (227)
Bad debts (3,384) (559) (163) (4,106) (395)
Depreciation of housing 
properties

(6,082) (1,004) (293) (7,379) (6,635)

Operating costs on 
social housing lettings

(19,882) (3,283) (959) (24,124) (19,890)

Operating surplus on 
social housing lettings

20,668 3,322 970 24,960 24,094

Void losses (211) (788) (30) (1,029) (1,135)

4. Remuneration of officers and senior executives

Parent Board members received remuneration of £85K (2012: £85K).
Total expenses reimbursed to Board members were £5K (2012: £6K).

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

£60,001 to £70,000 4 5
£70,001 to £80,000 2 3
£80,001 to £90,000 1 -
£90,001 to £100,000 - 1

The full time equivalents number of staff (excluding directors), who receive remuneration:

The aggregate amount of directors’ remuneration for the year (excluding pension contributions and taxable benefits) 
was £747k (2012: £894k).

Remuneration of the highest paid senior executive (Chief Executive) was £191.5k (2012: £177k).  In addition a 
payment in lieu of pension contributions of £32k and a performance related bonus of £22k was awarded in the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. Staff numbers and costs

The average numbers of persons employed by the Association expressed both in full time equivalents and numbers of 
staff members (including senior executives), analysed by category were as follows: 

                      GROUP                         GROUP
2013
FTEs

2013
No.

2012
FTEs

2012
No.

Administration staff 247 260 278  281  
Maintenance 14 14 19    20
Caretakers, cleaners and 
wardens

48 48 39    45

309 322 336 346

The aggregate payroll cost of these persons was as follows:

                                                                                 GROUP
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Wages and salaries 10,323       10,031
Social security costs 1,095       894
Other pension costs 887       814

12,305 11,739

In addition during the year a total of £92k (2012: £149k) was paid in relation to severance and redundancy costs. 

6. Sales of properties
                     GROUP                       ASSOCIATION

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Disposal proceeds 2,821 2,655 7,383 2,655
Carrying value of fixed assets (2,456) (2,410) (7,018) (2,410)

365 245 365 245
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Notes to the Financial Statements

7. Interest receivable
                  GROUP                   ASSOCIATION

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Bank interest receivable 274 84 95  28
Interest on inter-group on-lending - - 100  41

274 84 195 69

8. Interest payable and similar charges

                       GROUP                           ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Bank loans 17,317 16,857 17,317 16,857
Other bank charges 585 813 581 813
Finance lease charges 242 228 1 -

18,144 17,898 17,899 17,670
Less: interest capitalised (2,277) (4,687)  (2,277) (4,687)

15,867 13,211 15,622    12,983

9. Surplus for the year

                 GROUP                  ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

The surplus for the year is stated after 
charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration on audit services:
   Audit of Parent 30 30 30 30
   Audit of Subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 21 21 21 21
   Other services - service charges 23 23 23 23
Depreciation on housing properties 7,439 6,635 7,379 6,575
Depreciation on component replacement 173 - 173 -
Depreciation on other fixed assets 557 743     555 743
Operating surplus Forest Gate PFI (2,484) (792) (2,484) (792)
Operating lease charges 245 245     245 245
Impairment - 4,952 - 4,952
Group Service fees from other group 
undertakings (note 23)

- - (525) (324)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

10. Taxation

GROUP  ASSOCIATION
2013

£’000

2012

£’000

2013

£’000

2012

£’000
Tax charge/(credit) on surplus on ordinary activities
Current tax:
Arising from earlier periods (5) (41) - -
Current year movements 79 56 - -
Deferred tax:
Arising from earlier periods - - - -
Current year movements - - - -
Tax charge on surplus on ordinary activities 74 15 - -
Tax reconciliation 
Surplus on ordinary activities before tax: 15,089 13,094 15,278 17,405
Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate 
of corporation tax in the UK of 24% (2012: 26%)

3,621 3,404 3,667 4,524

Unrecognised losses utilised - - - -
Charitable tax exemption (3,547) (3,389) (3,667) (4,524)
Total current tax charge for year 74 15 - -

There are no unprovided deferred tax assets or liabilities.
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11. Intangible fixed assets

Assets Acquired
Fair Value

£’000
Intangible Assets 190
Tangible Assets 19
Debtors 153
Cash 187
Creditors (1,394)

                
Net Liabilities acquired (845)

Consideration -

Goodwill 845

a) Goodwill on Acquisition 

On 30 September 2012 Swan New Homes acquired control of Swan Social Enterprise Group for £nil.

In the management accounts for the 6 months to the 30 September 2012 the acquired Group incurred a loss before 
tax of £223k.

A fair value assessment was undertaken at the point of acquisition and no material adjustments were required.

GROUP
Goodwill

£’000
At 1 April 2012 -
Acquisition of Swan Social 
Enterprise Group

845

Additions 190
Disposals -

                
At 31 March 2013 1,035

                
Amortisation
At 1 April 2012 -
Charge for year (55)

                
At 31 March 2013 (55)

                
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2013 980

At 31 March 2012 -
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties

Notes to the Financial Statements

GROUP General/
special 
needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS 

key worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2012 473,079 42,234 64,079 3,025 68,603 651,020
Additions 3,153 - - - 18,423 21,576
Disposals (2,121) (1,133) - - - (3,254)
Completions 44,075 3,405 - - (47,480) -
Valuation adjustment (16,483) (2,344) - - - (14,139)
At 31 March 2013 501,703 46,850 64,079 3,025 39,546 655,203
Depreciation
At 1 April 2012 - - (6,034) (630) - (6,664)
Disposals 625 - - - - 625
Charge for year (5,659) (338) (1,382) (60) - (7,439)
Valuation adjustment 4,866 338 - - - 5,204
At 31 March 2013 (168) - (7,416) (690) - (8,274)
Social Housing 
Grant:
At April 2012 - - (7,858) - (22,777) (30,635)
Received during year - - - - (7,135) (7,135)
Disposals 840 - - - - 840
Completions (20,363) - - - 20,363 -
Valuation adjustment 19,523 - - - - 19,523
At 31 March 2013 - - (7,858) - (9,549) (17,407)

b) Housing properties
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

b) Housing properties (continued)

GROUP General/
special 
needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS key 

worker

£’000

Properties 
held under 

finance 
leases

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Other public sector 
grants:
At April 2012 - - (4,316) - (1,987) (6,303)
Received during year - - - - - -
Disposals - - - - - -
Completions - - - - - -
Valuation adjustment - - - - - -
At 31 March 2013 - - (4,316) - (1,987) (6,303)
Cost or Valuation:
At 31 March 2013 501,535 46,850 44,489 2,335 28,010 623,219
At 31 March 2012 473,079 42,234 45,871 2,395 43,839 607,418
Cost or valuation 
at 31 March 2012 is 
represented by:
Gross cost 649,885 32,858 64,079 3,025 39,546 789,393
Less: Depreciation (35,187) (2,591) (7,416) (690) - (45,884)
Less: Social Housing 
Grant

(233,042) (10,844) (7,858) - (9,549) (261,293)

Less: other public 
sector grant

(30,829) (7,912) (4,316) - (1,987) (45,044)

Revaluation reserve 150,708 35,339 - - - 186,047
501,535 46,850 44,489 2,335 28,010 623,219
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

b) Housing properties (continued)

ASSOCIATION General/special 
needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed NHS 
key worker

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2012 473,079 42,234 64,079 74,303 653,695
Additions 3,153 - - 18,451 21,604
Disposals (2,121) (1,133) - - (3,254)
Completions 44,075 3,405 - (47,480) -
Valuation adjustment (16,483) 2,344 - - (14,139)
At 31 March 2013 501,703 46,850 64,079 45,274 657,906
Depreciation:
At April 2012 - - (6,034) - (6,034)
Disposals 625 - - - 625
Charge for year (5,659) (338) (1,382) - (7,379)
Valuation adjustment 4,866 338 - - 5,204
At 31 March 2013 (168) - (7,416) - (7,584)
Social Housing 
Grant:
At April 2012 - - (7,858) (22,777) (30,635)
Repaid/(Received)
during year

- - - (7,135) (7,135)

Disposals 840 - - - 840
Completions (20,363) - - 20,363 -
Valuation adjustment 19,523 - - - 19,523
At 31 March 2013 - - (7,858) (9,549) (17,407)
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

b) Housing properties (continued)

ASSOCIATION General/
special needs

£’000

Completed 
shared 

ownership 
housing 

properties

£’000

Completed 
NHS key 

worker

£’000

Under 
construction

£’000

Total

£’000
Other public sector grants:
At April 2012 - - (4,316) (1,987) (6,303)
Received during year - - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
Completions - - - - -
Valuation adjustment - - - - -
At 31 March 2013 - - (4,316) (1,987) (6,303)
Cost or valuation:
At 31 March 2013 501,535 46,850 44,489 33,738 626,612
At 31 March 2012 473,079 42,234 45,871 49,539 610,723
Cost or valuation at 31 
March 2012 is represented 
by:
Gross cost 649,885 32,858 64,079 45,274 792,096
Less: Depreciation (35,187) (2,591) (7,416) - (45,194)
Less: Social Housing Grant (233,042) (10,844) (7,858) (9,549) (261,293)
Less: other public sector 
grant

(30,829) (7,912) (4,316) (1,987) (45,044)

Revaluation reserve 150,708 35,339 - - 186,047
501,535 46,850 44,489 33,738 626,612
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

b) Housing properties (continued)

The Association has received Social Housing Grant from 
the Homes and Communities Agency and other grants 
from local authorities.

A number of the properties that have been grant funded 
by the HCA or its predecessors are subject to secure 
tenancies which confer on the tenant the right to 
purchase the property they occupy. If a tenant exercises 
their right to purchase the property the Association is 
liable to repay to the HCA an amount that is broadly 
equivalent to the grant advanced in respect of the 
property.

Similar obligations to the tenant exist in respect of 
properties built under the right to acquire legislation 
although in these cases there is no obligation to the HCA.

Under most circumstances, if housing properties 
are disposed of, Social Housing Grant is recycled or 
becomes repayable to the HCA.

Included within additions are development administration 
costs of Group: £1,183k, Association: £1,183k, (2012 
Group: £795k, Association: £795k) and interest 
capitalised of Group: £2,277k, Association: £2,277k (2012 
Group: £4,687k, Association: £4,687k). The interest 
capitalisation was calculated using the Group’s average 
cost of floating rate borrowing each month.  The average 
rate during the year was 4.00% (2012: 3.89%).

The maintenance and repair expenditure on housing 
properties for the Group is £6.9m, Association £6.9m 
(2012 Group: £6.5m, Association: £6.5m).  £3.2m of this 
expenditure is capitalised (2012: £3.1m) for both Group 
and Association.

All completed housing stock of the Group was valued 
as at 31 March 2013, on the basis of Existing Use Value 
for Social Housing (EUV-SH) for accounts purposes at 
Group: £527.7m, Association: £527.7m (2012: Group 
£494.3m, Association £494.3m).  The valuation was 
undertaken in accordance with the RICS Appraisal & 
Valuation Manual (‘The Red Book’) where EUV-SH is 
defined   at UKPS1.13.  In determining this valuation, the 
valuers made use of discounted cashflow methodology 
and the key assumptions made concerned the level of 
future rents, future repair and maintenance costs, the rate 
of turnover of existing tenants and the discount rate.  The 
assumed discount rate was 5.25% real, assumed RPI is 
between 2.50% and 3.00% till 2016 and 3.00% thereafter, 
assumed interest was 5.00% and rental increases have 
been included in line with current practice.  The valuation 
was carried out by FPD Savills, Chartered Surveyors of 
25 Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7EE. 

Completed NHS key worker properties are carried at cost 
less depreciation.  

We revalue properties at each year end. The impact of 
component accounting on the opening cost or value of 
properties in note 11 is therefore nil.
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

c) Other fixed assets

GROUP Freehold offices & 
temporary buildings

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment 
and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At April 2012 4,038 3,769 1,419 9,226
Acquisition of 
subsidiaries

- 37 - 37

Additions 60 257 52 369
At 31 March 2013 4,098 4,063 1,471 9,632
Depreciation
At 1 April 2012 (605) (2,833) (1,180) (4,618)
Acquisition of 
subsidiaries

- (18) - (18)

Charge for year (64) (405) (88) (557)
At 31 March 2013 (669) (3,256) (1,268) (5,193)
Net book value
At 31 March 2013 3,429 807 203 4,439
At 31 March 2012 3,433 936 239 4,608

ASSOCIATION Freehold offices & 
temporary buildings

£’000

Computer 
equipment

£’000

Office equipment 
and fittings

£’000

Total

£’000
Cost
At April 2012  4,038 3,769 1,419 9,226
Additions 60 247 49 356
At 31 March 2012 4,098   4,016 1,468 9,582
Depreciation
At 1 April 2012 (605) (2,833) (1,180) (4,618)
Charge for year (64) (403) (88) (555)
At 31 March 2013 (669) (3,236) (1,268) (5,173)
Net book value
At 31 March 2013 3,429   780 200 4,409
At 31 March 2012 3,433  936 239 4,608
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11. Tangible fixed assets - properties (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

d) Investments

ASSOCIATION Loan to group members 
£’000

At April 2012 -
Advanced to Group member 4,562 
At 31 March 2013 4,562 

During the year ended 31 March 2013 advances totalling £4,562k had been provided to Swan New Homes.  These 
advances relate to the development programmes and associated working capital requirements for Swan New Homes. 

The principal subsidiaries are:

Direct holdings Activity Country of registration
Swan New Homes Limited Build of new homes Great Britain
Swan Commercial Services Limited Design and build contractor Great Britain
Hera Management Services Limited Property management Great Britain
Vivo Support Limited Care and support services Great Britain
Pike Housing Services Limited Property letting Great Britain

12. Properties held for sale & work in progress
                     GROUP                        ASSOCIATION

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Shared ownership properties
Completed properties 705 2,609 705 2,609
Work in progress 31,825   30,020 31,825 30,020

32,530 32,629 32,530 32,629
Private developments
Completed properties 13,913 20,319 - -
Work in progress 3,427 5,499 - -

49,870 58,447 32,530 32,629
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13. Debtors

                          GROUP                         ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Gross arrears of rent and 
service charge

1,420 805 1,420 804

Less: provision for bad 
and doubtful debts

(781) (611) (761) (611)

Net arrears of rent and 
service charges

639 194  659 193

Other debtors 4,245 5,690 3,684 2,955
Other prepayments and 
accrued income

601 4,816 12,617 4,816

Other prepayments and 
accrued income - PFI

2,162 2,355 2,162 2,355

Equity in properties 836 - - -
Amounts owed by Group 
undertakings

- - 3,451 39,013

Finance leases - - 3,025 3,024
8,483 13,055 25,598 52,356

14. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Trade creditors 2,738 3,874 1,142 812
Bank overdraft - -    - -
Capital creditors - -    - -
Other creditors 8,472 6,126 5,685 2,445
Deferred income 1,096 8,743 1,083 1,064
Amounts owed to Group 
undertakings

- - 909 9,999

Accruals and deferred 
income

8,318 6,079 4,082 6,079

Interest payable 2,239 2,083 2,239 2,083
Corporation tax 79 56 - -

22,942 26,961 15,140 22,482

a) Due within 1 year

b) Due after 1 year

Other prepayments and 
accrued income - PFI

38,996 31,059 38,996 31,059
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15. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Notes to the Financial Statements

                        GROUP                          ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Housing loans 442,441 436,805 442,441 436,805
Finance leases 3,024 3,023 3,024 3,024

PFI loan 38,353 38,934 38,353 38,934
Deferred consideration 41 - - -
Disposals proceeds funds 1,348 1,028 1,348 1,028
Recycled capital grants fund 703 435 703 435
CNT clawback - 1,298 - 1,298

485,910 481,523 485,869 481,524
Housing loans, not 
repayable by instalments:
Falling due two to five years 4,100 1,294 4,100 1,294
Failing due for repayment after 
five years

440,900 438,206 440,900 438,206

Less: issue costs (2,559) (2,695) (2,559) (2,694)
442,441 436,805 442,441 436,806

The loans above are drawn from a total committed loan facility of £510 million provided by a syndicate headed by 
Royal Bank of Scotland plc. It consists of a Group borrowing facility for the benefit of the Association. Under this 
facility the property collateral of all properties charged to the lenders is pooled to secure the loan finance and overdraft 
facilities provided under the arrangement.  Loans are secured by charges on specific properties and floating charges, 
and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of interest between 1.71% and 6.71%. 

                      GROUP                       ASSOCIATION
Finance leases 2013

£’000
2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Finance leases 3,024 3,023 3,024 3,024

                       GROUP                      ASSOCIATION
PFI loans 2013

£’000
2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Falling due less than one year 1,874 - 1,874 -
Falling due within one to two 
years

2,350 580 2,350 580

Falling due two to five years 6,534 8,517 6,534 8,517

Falling due for repayment after 
five years

27,595 29,837 27,595 29,837

38,353 38,934 38,353 38,934

Finance leases represent the capital funding advanced under finance leases for a total of 35 properties.  These entail 
the funder (Bradford and Bingley plc) purchasing the freehold of properties on the open market, leasing them to Swan 
Housing Association for 25 years and Swan Housing Association entering into a back to back lease with Pike Housing 
Services.  At the end of the lease term Bradford and Bingley plc has a put option to sell the properties and Swan 
Housing Association has a call option to purchase the properties, both at historic cost. 

The PFI loan is provided by Royal Bank of Scotland plc and is due to expire in 2028.  Interest is paid at 6.2% for the 
remainder of the facility.
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16. Non-equity share capital - Group and Association
GROUP AND ASSOCIATION 2013

£
2012

£
Outstanding at 1 April 2012 8 8
Allocated during the year - -
Cancelled during the year (2) -
Shares of £1 each allotted, issued and full paid 6 8

The shares have limited rights. They carry no entitlement to a dividend, are not repayable and do not carry rights to 
participate in a winding up.  They carry an entitlement to vote at the annual and special meetings of the Association. 
When shares are cancelled, the amount paid up becomes the property of the Association.

17. Reserves - Group
GROUP Income and 

expenditure 
account 

£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000
As at 1 April 2012 55,306 179,066 234,372
Revaluation surplus in year - housing properties - 10,589 10,589
Surplus for year 15,015 - 15,015
Realisation of revaluation surplus on properties sold in 
the year

110 (110) -

Transfer of depreciation relating to revaluation 1,132 (1,132) -
As at 31 March 2013 71,563 188,413 259,976

15. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
(continued)

                        GROUP                         ASSOCIATION
Analysis of Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund:

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 435 273 435 273
Additions to the fund 368 200 368 200
Utilised during the year (100) (38) (100) (38)

Balance at 31 March 2013 703 435 703 435

                      GROUP                          ASSOCIATION
Analysis of CNT 
clawback:

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 1,298 1,150 1,298 1,150
Additions to the fund 153 148 153 148
Utilised during the year (1,451) - (1,451) -

Balance at 31 March 2013 - 1,298 - 1,298

                       GROUP                        ASSOCIATION
Analysis of Disposals 
Proceeds Fund:

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 1,028 673 1,028 673
Additions to the fund 320 355 320 355
Utilised during the year - - - -

Balance at 31 March 2013 1,348 1,028 1,348 1,028
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A designated reserve has been set up to pay for the replacement of white goods when required in the supported 
housing schemes where required by the lease. At 31 March 2013 this amounted to £670k (2012: £670k) and is 
included with the Income & Expenditure account.

ASSOCIATION Income and 
expenditure 

account 
£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

£’000
As at 1 April 2012 60,977 179,066 240,043
Revaluation surplus in year - housing 
properties

- 10,589 10,589

Surplus for the year 15,278 - 15,278
Transfer of depreciation relating to revaluation 1,132 (1,132) -
Realisation of revaluation surplus on properties 
sold in the year

110 (110) -

As at 31 March 2013 77,497 188,413 265,910  

17. Reserves - Association

Notes to the Financial Statements

18. Commitments
i) Capital Commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made. 

                      GROUP                        ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Contracted but not provided 58,773 59,091     21,499 32,748
Authorised but not contracted 71,322 57,829 45,447 42,721

130,095 116,920 66,946 75,469

The Board considers that all expenditure will be financed through a combination of grants of £16.9m (2012: £19.6m), 
sales income of £106.5m (2012: £97.3m), and the balance from undrawn bank debt.

ii) Annual commitments for the year from the balance sheet date under non-cancellable operating leases for 
equipment and motor vehicles are as follows:

                    GROUP                     ASSOCIATION
2013
£’000

2012
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Operating lease which expire:
Within one year 228    307    228 307
In the second to fifth years inclusive 228      265      228 265

  456 572      456 572

17. Reserves - Group (cont)
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19. Analysis of completed property units
At 31 March 2013 the Group’s housing stock comprised:

GROUP                          Owned 
                         number of units

                         Managed 
                        number of units

2013 2012 2013 2012
Social housing:
General needs 6,405 6,269 - -
Affordable 159 93 - -
Shared ownership 601 575 - -
Sheltered (elderly) 80 80 - -
Other Supported Housing 417 412 - -
NHS key worker 
accommodation

934 936 - -

London Borough of 
Newham

- - 1,337 1,355

Total social housing 8,596 8,365 1,337 1,355
Non-social housing:
Garages 241 428 198 198
Sold to leaseholder with 
retained freehold

646 633 - -

Total housing stock 9,483 9,426 1,535 1,553

ASSOCIATION                         Owned 
                        number of units

                            Managed 
                          number of units

2013 2012 2013 2012
Social housing:
General needs 6,405 6,269 - -
Affordable 159 93 - -
Shared ownership 601 575 - -
Sheltered (elderly) 80 80 - -
Other Supported Housing 417 412 - -
NHS key worker 
accommodation

934 936 - -

London Borough of 
Newham

- - 1,337 1,355

Total social housing 8,596 8,365 1,337 1,355
Non-social housing:
Garages 241 428 198 198
Sold to leaseholder with 
retained freehold

646 633 - -

Total housing stock 9,483 9,426 1,535 1,553
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20. Legislative provisions
The Association is registered under the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1965 with the reference 28496R, and 
with the Homes and Communities Agency under reference L4145 under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 as a 
Registered Provider.

21. Related party disclosures
There are four tenants who are also Board members of one of the entities within the Group.  The rent and terms of 
their tenancies are determined in the same way as those of all tenants.  The tenant members who served during 
the year were Tyson Bunby, Natasha Greaves, John Elkins and Carol Franklin. There were no other related party 
transactions with the tenant members.

The Association has provided car purchase loans to two executive directors, the terms and interest rate is the same as 
that available to staff.

The Association had the following activity with non-regulated entities in the Group. Swan New Homes Limited £5,354k 
(land, property sales and management fee), Swan Commercial Services Limited £11,479k (development activities and 
management fee), Hera Management Services Limited £165k (property management services), Vivo Support Limited 
£95k (care services).

22. Pensions
The Association participates in the Social Housing 
Pension Scheme (SHPS).  The Scheme is funded and 
is contracted out of the state scheme.  SHPS is a multi-
employer defined benefit scheme.  Employer participation 
in the Scheme is subject to adherence with the employer 
responsibilities and obligations as set out in the ‘SHPS 
House Policies and Rules Employer Guide’.

The scheme operated a single benefit structure, final 
salary with a 1/60th accrual rate until 31 March 2010. 
From 1 April 2010 the following have been available:

• Final salary with a 1/60th accrual rate, closed to 
new entrants 31 March 2010

• Final salary with a 1/80th accrual rate

An employer can elect to operate different benefit 
structures for their active members and their new 
entrants. An employer can only operate one open 
defined benefit structure at any one time. An open benefit 
structure is one which new entrants can join.

Swan Housing Association Limited currently operates a 
defined contribution benefit structure for active members.

The Trustee commissions an actuarial valuation of 
the Scheme every three years. The main purpose of 
the valuation is to determine the financial position of 
the Scheme in order to determine the level of future 
contributions required, in respect of each benefit 
structure, so that the Scheme can meet its pension 
obligations as they fall due.  From April 2007 the split of 
the total contribution rate between member and employer 
is set at individual employer level, subject to the employer 
paying no less than 50% of the total contribution rate.  
From 1 April 2010 the requirement for employers to 
pay at least 50% of the total contribution rate no longer 
applies.

The actuarial valuation assesses whether the Scheme’s 
assets at the valuation date are likely to be sufficient to 
pay the pension benefits accrued by members at the 

valuation date. Asset values are calculated by reference 
to market levels. Accrued pension benefits are valued 
by discounting expected future benefit payments using 
a discount rate calculated by reference to the expected 
future investment returns.

During the accounting period the Association paid 
contributions between 3% and 18.15% (2012 – 11.9% 
and 17.8%).  Member contributions vary between 5% and 
10.05% (2012- 6.5% and 10.05%) depending on their 
age.

It is not possible in the normal course of events to 
identify on a consistent and reasonable basis the share 
of underlying assets and liabilities belonging to individual 
participating employers.  This is because the Scheme is 
a multi-employer Scheme where the Scheme assets are 
co-mingled for investment purposes, and benefits are 
paid from the total Scheme assets.  Accordingly, due to 
the nature of the Scheme, the accounting charge for the 
period under FRS17 represents the employer contribution 
payable.

The last formal valuation of the Scheme was performed 
as at 30 September 2011 by a professionally qualified 
Actuary using the Projected Unit Method.  The market 
value of the Scheme’s assets at the valuation date was 
£2,062 million.  The valuation revealed a shortfall of 
assets compared with the value of liabilities of £1,035 
million, equivalent to a past service funding level of 67%.

The Scheme Actuary has prepared an Actuarial Report 
that provides an approximate update on the funding 
position of the Scheme as at 30 September 2012. Such 
a report is required by legislation for years in which a full 
actuarial valuation is not carried out. The market value of 
the Scheme’s assets at the date of the Actuarial Report 
was £2,327 million. The Actuarial Report revealed a 
shortfall of assets compared with the value of liabilities of 
£1,241 million, equivalent to a past service funding level 
of 65%.
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% pa
Pre-retirement 7.0
Non-pensioner post retirement 4.2
Pensioner post retirement 4.2
Pensionable earnings growth 2.5 

(for 3 years, then 4.4)
Price inflation 2.9
Pension increases:
Pre 88 GMP 0.0
Post 88 GMP 2.0
Excess over GMP 2.4

The valuation was carried out using the following 
demographic assumptions:

Mortality pre-retirement – 41% SAPS S1 Male / Female 
All Pensioners (amounts), Year of Birth, CMI_2009 
projections with long term improvement rates of 1.5% 
p.a. for Males and 1.25% p.a. for Females.
Mortality post retirement – 97% SAPS S1 Male / 
Female All Pensioners (amounts), Year of Birth, 
CMI_2009 projections with long term improvement 
rates of 1.5% p.a. for Males and 1.25% p.a. for 
Females.

The long-term joint contribution rate required from 
employers and members to meet the cost of future 
benefits was assessed as 19.4% of pensionable salaries 
for 1/60th accrual rate and 14.8% for 1/80th accrual rate.

Following consideration of the results of the actuarial 
valuation it was agreed that the shortfall of £1,035 million 
would be dealt with by the payment of deficit contributions 
as shown in the table below:

Valuation Results

(*) The contributions of 7.5% will be expressed in nominal 
pound terms (for each Employer), increasing each year 
in line with the Earnings growth assumption used in the 
30 September 2008 valuation (i.e. 4.7% per annum). The 
contributions of 3.1% will be calculated by proportioning 
the nominal pound payment at the time of the change. 
Earnings at 30 September 2008 (for each Employer) 
will be used as the reference point for calculating these 
contributions.

These deficit contributions are in addition to the long-term 
joint contribution rates.

The Scheme Actuary will provide an approximate 
update on the funding position of the Scheme as at 30 
September 2013. Such a report is required by legislation 
for years in which a full actuarial valuation is not carried 
out. The results of this approximate update will be 
available in Spring 2014 and will be included in next 
year’s Disclosure Note.

Employers that participate in the Scheme on a non-
contributory basis pay a joint contribution rate (i.e. a 
combined employer and employee rate).

Employers that have closed the defined benefit section 
of the Scheme to new entrants are required to pay an 
additional employer contribution loading of 2.5% to reflect 
the higher costs of a closed arrangement.

A small number of employers are required to contribute at 
a different rate to reflect the amortisation of a surplus or 
deficit on the transfer of assets and past service liabilities 
from another pension scheme into SHPS.
New employers that do not transfer any past service 
liabilities to the Scheme pay contributions at the ongoing 
future service contribution rate. This rate is reviewed at 
each valuation and new employers joining the Scheme 
between valuations up until 1 April 2010 do not contribute 
towards the deficit until two valuations have been 
completed after their date of joining. New employers 

The financial assumptions underlying the valuation as at 30 September 2011 were as follows:
Financial Assumptions

From 1 April 2013 to 30 
September 2020

A cash amount(*) 
equivalent to 7.5% of
Members’ Earnings per 
annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 4.7% 
per annum each 1 April)

From 1 October 2020 to 
30 September 2023

A cash amount(*) 
equivalent to 3.1% of
Members’ Earnings per 
annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 4.7% per 
annum each 1 April)

From 1 April 2013 to 30 
September 2026

£30,640,000 per annum 
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3% per 
annum each 1 April; first 
increase on 1 April 2014)
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22. Pensions (continued)

Notes to the financial Statements

joining the Scheme after 1 April 2010 will be liable for 
past service deficit contributions from the valuation 
following joining. Contribution rates are changed on the 1 
April that falls 18 months after the valuation date.

A copy of the Recovery Plan, setting out the level of 
deficit contributions payable and the period for which 
they will be payable, must be sent to The Pensions 
Regulator. The Regulator has the power under Part 3 of 
the Pensions Act 2004 to issue scheme funding directions 
where it believes that the actuarial valuation assumptions 
and/or Recovery Plan are inappropriate. For example the 
Regulator could require that the Trustee strengthens the 
actuarial assumptions (which would increase the Scheme 
liabilities and hence impact on the Recovery Plan) or 
impose a schedule of contributions on the Scheme (which 
would effectively amend the terms of the Recovery Plan). 
A response regarding the 30 September 2011 valuation is 
awaited.

As a result of pension scheme legislation there is a 
potential debt on the employer that could be levied by the 
Trustee of the Scheme. The debt is due in the event of 
the employer ceasing to participate in the Scheme or the 
Scheme winding up.

The debt for the Scheme as a whole is calculated by 
comparing the liabilities for the Scheme (calculated 
on a buy-out basis i.e. the cost of securing benefits by 

purchasing annuity policies from an insurer, plus an 
allowance for expenses) with the assets of the Scheme. If 
the liabilities exceed assets there is a buy-out debt.

The leaving employer’s share of the buy-out debt is 
the proportion of the Scheme’s liability attributable to 
employment with the leaving employer compared to 
the total amount of the Scheme’s liabilities (relating 
to employment with all the currently participating 
employers). The leaving employer’s debt therefore 
includes a share of any ‘orphan’ liabilities in respect of 
previously participating employers. The amount of the 
debt therefore depends on many factors including total 
Scheme liabilities, Scheme investment performance, 
the liabilities in respect of current and former employees 
of the employer, financial conditions at the time of the 
cessation event and the insurance buy-out market. The 
amounts of debt can therefore be volatile over time.

Swan Housing Association has been notified by The 
Pensions Trust of the estimated employer debt on 
withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension Scheme, 
based on the financial position of the Scheme as at 30 
September 2012. At this date the estimated employer 
debt is £18,648k.

23. Subsidiaries
Swan Housing Association provides staff and other 
services to its subsidiaries under the terms of procedure 

agreements.  Details of the amount charged to the 
subsidiaries within the Group are as follows: 

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

Amount charged:
Pike Housing Services Limited 25 24
Swan Commercial Services 150 100
Swan New Homes 350 200

525 324

24. Contingent liabilities
Performance bonds
Swan Housing Association has issued performance 
bonds in respect of highway and other works which are 
part of development schemes in Basildon amounting to 
a maximum of £1,140,783 which may be retained by the 
local authorities in the event of works required under the 

construction programme not being completed.  At present 
the Association is expecting to complete these works 
satisfactorily. The bonds expire at various dates, the 
latest of which is November 2018.

25. Creditor payments days
The average number of days between receipt and payment of purchase invoices in 2013 was 30 days.  
(2012: 30 Days).
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